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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Good morning.

          3  My name is Kendall Stewart and I am the Chair of the

          4  Immigration Committee. It is my pleasure to

          5  acknowledge the Immigration and Higher Education

          6  Committee Members who are present here today.

          7                 First, I want to recognize my

          8  Co-Chair Charles Barron, and I also want to

          9  recognize Council Member Avella, Council Member

         10  Weprin.  The other Members will be joining us

         11  shortly.

         12                 Today we will be conducting an

         13  Oversight Hearing to discuss the difficulties

         14  immigrant students face while trying to obtain

         15  professional licenses.

         16                 As you may know, federal law limits

         17  the issuance of professional license, registrations

         18  and limited permits to United States Citizens or

         19  qualified aliens.

         20                 Many types of professional licenses

         21  are affected by this law, including accountants,

         22  architects, attorneys, barbers, gun dealers,

         23  doctors, dentists, nurses, midwives, plumbers, pawn

         24  brokers and others.  Business licenses such as

         25  liquor, hotel, restaurant, gambling and insurance
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          2  are also affected.

          3                 Unfortunately, for those immigrants

          4  who want to build their professional career here in

          5  the United States, qualifying for these licenses is

          6  proving to be an enormous task due to the barriers

          7  an immigrant student faces when negotiating their

          8  way through the American system.

          9                 These barriers range from the

         10  simplest, such as resume writing to the complex,

         11  such as legal assistance. Removing institutional

         12  barriers to employment is of vital importance if we

         13  are to continue to attract the best and the

         14  brightest.  There are many areas of policy

         15  intervention that states and cities can pursue to

         16  encourage newcomers to fulfill their full potential.

         17    This Hearing will examine some of these areas.

         18  Policies and programs aimed especially at foreign-

         19  born professionals are needed if we are to take

         20  advantage of the skilled pool of immigrants.

         21                 At this time, I would like to call on

         22  my Co-Chair, Councilman Barron, for his opening

         23  statements.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Thank you very

         25  much.  I certainly appreciate it, Chair  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Stewart.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Of the,

          4  Chair Stewart of the Immigration Committee.  Your

          5  last name is Stewart?

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Yes.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I think this is

          8  a very critical issue and it's good that we, in a

          9  timely way, are dealing with this.  I want to read

         10  my opening statement for the record and acknowledge

         11  Miguel Martinez from the Committee on Higher

         12  Education and Tony Avella.  Miquel's from Manhattan,

         13  Tony's from Queens.  Weprin, David Weprin, from the

         14  Immigration Committee, Annabel Palma, I want to

         15  recognize her, Baaba Halm, our lawyer who makes me

         16  appear smarter than what I really am, doing all the

         17  research, Desiree, you're welcome, anybody else?

         18  There's payback for that one Tony.

         19                 Good afternoon.  I'm Charles Barron,

         20  Chair of the City Council's Higher Education

         21  Committee.  The Higher Education Committee is

         22  pleased to be joining the Immigration Committee in

         23  today's Hearing, examining the difficulties

         24  immigrant students face when obtaining professional

         25  licenses.
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          2                 New York City has a large and diverse

          3  immigrant population.  Immigrants add a wealth of

          4  experiences and skills to our communities into our

          5  workforce.  Many immigrants enter the U.S. Already

          6  educated, having completed post- secondary course

          7  work or received training in professional areas in

          8  their home countries.  Others enter the U.S. To be

          9  educated and trained at our local universities and

         10  colleges.  As of fall of 2006, CUNY reports that

         11  there were well over 80,000 immigrants enrolled in

         12  its undergraduate degree programs, including an

         13  estimated 6,500 undocumented undergraduate students.

         14                 Although many immigrants are highly

         15  educated, recent reports indicate that a large

         16  number of them are working below their skill level

         17  or outside their areas of expertise because they

         18  face barriers to obtaining a professional license.

         19                 Some of the barriers that immigrant

         20  students face includes a lack of English language

         21  skills, educational credentials not commensurate

         22  with American standards, a lack of financial support

         23  and federal immigration law policies.  Because

         24  immigrants are a vital part of our workforce and

         25  play an important role in our local and national
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          2  economy, New York City must pay attention to and

          3  address the barriers that immigrant students face in

          4  obtaining a professional license.  Colleges,

          5  universities and community- based organizations play

          6  a key role in assisting immigrants to overcome

          7  barriers in entering a professional field.

          8                 At today's Hearing, the Committees

          9  will look, will seek to learn more about the

         10  difficulties immigrant students face in obtaining a

         11  professional license and how we can help them

         12  overcome such difficulties.

         13                 I just might add that immigrants play

         14  an important role in New York City's life.  They add

         15  to the cultural capital, certainly the economic

         16  capital.  Billions of dollars over the years are

         17  going to the economy.  But, yet, when it comes to

         18  receiving the respect and the social services and

         19  all of the opportunities for education and licensing

         20  and professional work, we fall short on our

         21  commitment to immigrants.  So, I don't want to

         22  disappoint anybody and not mention the race factor,

         23  because they would be very disappointed if I didn't,

         24  particularly, Tony Avella, so since the  --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Why pick on
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          2  me?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Since the

          4  complexion of immigration changed, policies,

          5  attitudes changed with that.  When immigrants were

          6  predominantly white, the attitude toward immigration

          7  still had some discrimination, but not like we're

          8  facing now and the difficulties obtaining

          9  citizenship and the call for deportation and walls

         10  and all of that, instead of finding a way to

         11  integrating immigrants into the economy.

         12                 So, with that, I'll stop and ask for

         13  a hand clap. Thank you very much.  We'll call on our

         14  first panel and that's the CUNY Administration.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Dr. Ann Cohen,

         16  Dr. Allan Wernick, Dr. Suma Kurian.  Do we have

         17  enough seats there?  And Carrie Shockley.  Is that

         18  Carrie Shockley?  All right.  We've got everybody?

         19  All right, first, if you would just identify

         20  yourself and then you get straight into the

         21  testimony that you would like to present today.

         22                 DR. COHEN:  Yes indeed.  My name is

         23  Ann Cohen.  I am representing the panel, the City

         24  University of New York.  I am the University  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Can you pull
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          2  the mic a little closer?

          3                 DR. COHEN:  Sure, certainly.  I am

          4  the University Dean for Academic Affairs at the City

          5  University and in that capacity I work with the

          6  education programs and programs in the health

          7  professions.  So, I'm very concerned with the issues

          8  that you have raised.  Chairperson Stewart,

          9  Chairperson Barron and Members of the panel, it's a

         10  pleasure for us to be here today to talk with you

         11  about these issues.

         12                 As I'm sure you all know, the City

         13  University has a long tradition and history of

         14  serving the needs of New Yorkers and, in turn,

         15  through them, serving the needs of the City.  One of

         16  the areas in which the City University has been

         17  active is in the creation of pathways into the

         18  professions.  The City is sorely in need of skilled

         19  professionals in the areas of education and in the

         20  health professions.

         21                 Furthermore, these occupations are

         22  highly valued by the citizens of New York as a

         23  foothold on the ladder of upward mobility that will

         24  serve them and their families, as well as the City.

         25                 With regard to immigrants, CUNY has

                                                            11

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND IMMIGRATION

          2  always opened its doors to immigrants, many of whom

          3  seek the education that will lead to the professions

          4  we are here to discuss today.  CUNY students always

          5  bring stories with them and it is the mission of the

          6  University to listen to those stories, the hopes and

          7  the dreams that are in those stories and to find

          8  ways, wherever possible, to realize them.

          9                 The stories that immigrants tell us

         10  and here I will sound very much like an echo of

         11  Chairman Barron, do suggest that there are some

         12  significant barriers and they are consistent across

         13  the spectrum.  They range from English language

         14  skills to preparation in core areas that will be, as

         15  Chairman Barron said, commensurate with the

         16  expectations and requirements of the programs that

         17  they want to enter.  Their immigration status is a

         18  challenge for many of them.  And, others simply seek

         19  some assistance in preparing for the licensure

         20  examinations that they must pass in order to enter

         21  professionalists in the State of New York.

         22                 As my colleagues will describe for

         23  you, the City University and its colleges have

         24  embarked on a number of initiatives to address these

         25  very issues.  Suma Kurian, Director of the Center
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          2  for Immigrant Education and Training at LaGuardia

          3  Community College will discuss the Center's programs

          4  and plans to help immigrants prepare for academic

          5  programs that will lead them into professions.

          6                 Carrie Shockley, the Director of

          7  Health Programs in adult and continuing education at

          8  Lehman College will discuss for you the nationally

          9  recognized programs at Lehman that are designed to

         10  help foreign- trained professionals, nursing, in

         11  nursing and medicine to obtain the necessary

         12  licenses and certification to apply their skills in

         13  the State of New York. Those individuals help us

         14  every year meet very critical shortage needs in the

         15  City.

         16                 I can talk with you a bit about the

         17  Teaching Opportunity program, which is a program for

         18  individuals who have a baccalaureate degree who wish

         19  to enter teaching, who need the Masters Degree and

         20  teacher certification.  The top program is

         21  distinctive because it was created by the faculty in

         22  the City University.  It appeals especially to

         23  foreign- trained baccalaureate holders, many of whom

         24  come to us in need both training in language and the

         25  ability to function in an American classroom, as
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          2  well as teacher certification.  We do meet those

          3  needs.

          4                 Finally and certainly not least,

          5  Professor Allan Wernick will talk with you about the

          6  issue that is at the heart of many of your remarks

          7  this morning.  That is, the issue of immigration

          8  status for the students whom come to CUNY.

          9                 I will now cede the microphone to my

         10  colleagues.

         11                 DR. KURIAN:  My name is Suma Kurian.

         12  I'm Director of the Center for Immigrant Education

         13  and Training at LaGuardia Community College and City

         14  University of New York.

         15                 Honorable Councilmen Charles Barron

         16  and Kendall Stewart, City Council Members, I want to

         17  thank you for giving us this opportunity to speak to

         18  a major difficulty that immigrant adults face as

         19  they seek to re- enter  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Excuse me, I

         21  don't mean to interrupt, did you have copies of your

         22    --

         23                 DR. KURIAN:  Yes, there's a folder

         24  that, yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, it's in the
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          2   --

          3                 DR. KURIAN:  It's on the right- hand

          4  side.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, I'm sorry,

          6  you may proceed.

          7                 DR. KURIAN:  As I was saying  --  I

          8  think there may be some extra folders there, yeah.

          9  We have one.  Yeah, I can get you some.

         10                 As I was saying, this is a major

         11  issue that immigrant adults face as they seek to re-

         12  enter the City's workforce.  The difficulty they

         13  have in, in obtaining employment that is

         14  commensurate with their training and experience in

         15  their countries of origin.  With a student

         16  population representing 159 countries, LaGuardia

         17  Community College is, by its very nature, a

         18  community of immigrants.  As you know well, we have

         19  a long history of providing effective educational

         20  services for immigrants.

         21                 I must tell you, one of the most

         22  frequent questions that we get asked is one that

         23  goes, I was trained as a teacher, an accountant, as

         24  a doctor in my country, can you tell me how I can

         25  get back into being, doing that here? Because what
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          2  I'm doing right now is being a truck driver, being a

          3  security guard, being something that does not really

          4  speak to my own professional value and certainly

          5  does not allow me to, to make a living that can

          6  support my family and myself in a sustained fashion.

          7                 It is not a question to which we have

          8  very easy answers.  As Dr. Cohen has spoken, there

          9  are a number of career pathways and programs that

         10  exist at CUNY and possibly other institutions, but

         11  there simply just aren't enough of these available.

         12                 Today, I would like to talk to you

         13  about a unique program that we're trying to get

         14  started at LaGuardia, one that will enable

         15  immigrants with prior medical credentials and

         16  experience to reenter the health care field.  This

         17  is a program that has the potential of addressing

         18  the severe shortage of licensed medical personnel in

         19  New York City and, in particular, the well-

         20  documented lack of health care professionals with

         21  the language and cultural knowledge needed to work

         22  in our many immigrant communities.

         23                 Using the Welcome Back Center in San

         24  Francisco as a model, we, at LaGuardia, seek to

         25  develop a comprehensive program to support the
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          2  reentry of immigrants with prior medical training

          3  into health care careers in New York City.  We hope

          4  to provide these individuals with services such as

          5  comprehensive assessment, licensing exams,

          6  assistance with credentialing and, when appropriate,

          7  referrals to further training at CUNY's 120 credit

          8  and 50 non- credit health care programs.  You will

          9  hear more about some of them from my colleagues

         10  here.

         11                 We would propose to do this through a

         12  City- wide partnership that brings together multiple

         13  CUNY campuses, health care unions, the New York City

         14  Health and Hospitals Corporation, the City's

         15  Workforce Investment Board and the New York City

         16  Department of Small Business Services.

         17                 I would also like to point out that

         18  our plan is one that envisions a provision of these

         19  comprehensive services to both native speakers and

         20  non- native speakers of English. Because, the

         21  difficulty in navigating the systems of licensure,

         22  credentialing are not ones that face, that are faced

         23  only by immigrants who are non- native speakers of

         24  English, but also by immigrants who are native

         25  speakers of English.  These are very difficult
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          2  systems to figure out.  There are bureaucracies to

          3  be navigated and information, as one of our students

          4  will tell you later, are, is not readily available.

          5                 We have currently at the college the

          6  beginnings of a center such as the one I've spoken

          7  of in our two Bridges to Allied Health Training

          8  programs.  One that works with native speakers of

          9  English and another that works with non- native

         10  speakers of English.

         11                 What I speak of is an ambitious

         12  project, but one that is sorely needed in our City.

         13  As an illustration, let me give you a snapshot of

         14  the students in our current ESOL Bridge to Allied

         15  Health Training class.  Of the 20 students currently

         16  enrolled in this specialized advanced ESOL class,

         17  three are medical doctors, three are nurses.  In

         18  addition, there is one dentist, a dietician, a rehab

         19  specialist and a homeopathic physician.  None of

         20  them is currently working at the jobs for which they

         21  were trained.  Their current jobs range from being

         22  receptionists to home health aides, to babysitters

         23  and sales clerks.

         24                 This is a tragic waste of their

         25  valuable knowledge and experience.  We, in New York
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          2  City, cannot afford to lose their much needed

          3  skills.  So, we look to the City Council for support

          4  and leadership in providing services that would be

          5  appropriate to providing the needed support services

          6  and English language skills for these individuals.

          7  Thank you.

          8                 MS. SHOCKLEY:  Good afternoon Council

          9  Members, Kendall Stewart, Charles Barron, the rest

         10  of the City Council present.  My name is Carrie

         11  Shockley from Lehman College, Adult and Continuing

         12  Education.

         13                 There are two programs that I'd like

         14  to highlight this afternoon, where we've been able

         15  to capitalize on experiences and credentials from

         16  outside of the United States.

         17                 The first program is our Foreign-

         18  Born RN program. These are people who are currently

         19  employed by different institutions throughout the

         20  City of New York and are members of Local 1199 SEIU.

         21    1199 approached us and asked if we would be able

         22  to develop a program that would help transition

         23  people who were trained and worked as nurses outside

         24  of the United States, who are now currently working

         25  in the home care industry. Primarily, they were
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          2  working in home care because of language issues and

          3  having difficulty with having their credentials

          4  recognized here in the U.S.

          5                 So, the program has two modules.  The

          6  first part is a part- time ESL program that focuses

          7  on contextualized English.  So, English in the

          8  context of medicine.  The second part helps them go

          9  into the clinical setting, practice nursing in the

         10  United States and, again, focusing on English as a

         11  second language.  We also help them with preparation

         12  for the NCLEX exam, so that they can become licensed

         13  in the State of New York.

         14                 The program takes about a year.  What

         15  we found is, after now, we've been doing this since

         16  2002, and we've had about 120 participants.  One of

         17  the biggest barriers that they face is being able to

         18  obtain their credentials from outside and also going

         19  through the process of having them recognized

         20  through the different channels that they have to go

         21  through.

         22                 It's a non- credit program.  So, it's

         23  one that while it can be rather costly, because the

         24  students do end up in school full- time, after they

         25  have their credentials reviewed, it is a program
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          2  that we've had relatively good success with.  We've

          3  been able to secure funding from outside, from a

          4  grant from the Robin Hood Foundation.

          5                 The second program I'd like to

          6  discuss is a program called the Foreign Trained

          7  Physician to RN program. Again, these are people who

          8  have credentials from outside the U.S., have

          9  practiced in the medical profession as physicians

         10  and have not been able to become licensed in the

         11  United States as doctors.

         12                 Why would they be interested in being

         13  a nurse? Because they're working as phlebotomists,

         14  patient care techs, home care attendants, taxi

         15  drivers.  You can name it, they're doing it.  They'd

         16  rather, you know, look at themselves differently and

         17  become nurses, so that they can get back into the

         18  medical profession and back to patient care.  That's

         19  a program that's funded by 1199 also.

         20                 Primarily, I manage the contractual

         21  relationships that the college has with Local 1199

         22  and hospitals and employers throughout the City.

         23                 The Physician to RN program takes

         24  about 21 months. The first part of it is, again,

         25  contextualized English as a second language,
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          2  students that are then, they pass, they have to go

          3  through the same credentialing process or review

          4  process that our applicants to the traditional

          5  nursing program would go through and they go around,

          6  year round, once they start.  Those that are

          7  accepted are put into a cohort of ten students and

          8  they stay together throughout the entire process.

          9                 One of the lessons that we learned

         10  with this group was that while you can teach or

         11  focus on English as a second language at the

         12  beginning, we discovered that while they were in

         13  nursing, we needed to give them English as a second

         14  language support throughout.  Because, while they

         15  were understanding the language of it, it was

         16  specific, it, they were having difficulty with the

         17  context of it.  So, we offered, what would be sort

         18  of a companion class with their nursing classes, to

         19  make sure that their understanding was complete,

         20  because we'd like to be sure that when we graduate

         21  someone from our nursing program, that they really

         22  are ready to go out and practice.

         23                 One of the biggest barriers, again,

         24  for that group is being able to get their

         25  credentials obtained from outside. The City
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          2  University has worked very, you know, worked very

          3  hard with this group to try to streamline that

          4  process.  We recognized early on which countries

          5  we're not going to have so much difficulty with and

          6  we try to proceed accordingly.  Thank you.

          7                 DR. WERNICK:  Good afternoon.  It's

          8  always a pleasure to appear before these two

          9  Committees.  My name is Allan Wernick.  I am the

         10  Director of the CUNY Citizenship and Immigration

         11  Project, a Professor at Baruch College and I am

         12  attorney, although don't hold that against me.

         13                 Before I begin my testimony, I just

         14  want to recognize the three people from the staff of

         15  the Citizenship Project who have assisted me with my

         16  testimony, Attorney Maggie Kawinski (phonetic),

         17  Charlotte Page (phonetic) and Monique Francis

         18  (phonetic), who are here with us today.

         19                 Today, I will highlight some of the

         20  legal problems faced by foreign professionals

         21  seeking professional certification and employment in

         22  the United States.  First, I'd like to give you,

         23  however, an update on CUNY's efforts to provide

         24  services to New York's immigrant community.

         25                 CUNY now has full-time immigration
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          2  law service offices at City College, Hostos

          3  Community College, Queensboro College at it's

          4  Flushing Center, New York City College of Technology

          5  and at Medgar Evers College.  We also provide part

          6  time counseling and citizenship application

          7  assistance at York College and LaGuardia College,

          8  with plans to expand to full- time centers at those

          9  colleges in the coming year.  We offer our services

         10  free to all New Yorkers, regardless of their

         11  affiliation to the City University.

         12                 Since the Project's inception, we

         13  have assisted approximately 20,000 individuals with

         14  citizenship applications. This assistance includes

         15  helping them complete their forms and providing free

         16  photographs.  We've also assisted approximately

         17  another 60,000 other individuals resolve their

         18  immigration problems.

         19                 The obstacles faced by foreign

         20  professionals and international students in

         21  obtaining professional certification and legal

         22  employment status can be daunting.  To help you

         23  understand these problems, I will look today at the

         24  certification process for foreign- educated medical

         25  professionals.  Then, we will look at problems faced
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          2  by international students who receive their

          3  professional education here in the United States.

          4  Finally, I will briefly address the problems faced

          5  by legal immigrants who are educated abroad.

          6                 Federal statutes require that health

          7  care professionals, other than some of those

          8  educated in Canada and Mexico, who seek legal

          9  immigration status, that is they're coming here for

         10  the purpose of providing professional services,

         11  present a certificate known as a visa screen,

         12  verifying their education, training and experience

         13  and documenting that they meet certain English

         14  language skill levels before they qualify for non

         15  immigrant or immigrant legal status.

         16                 Getting the visa screen certification

         17  is a lengthy and costly process.  Among the

         18  occupations requiring the certificate are registered

         19  nurses, licensed practical nurses, licensed

         20  vocational nurses, occupational therapists, physical

         21  therapists, speech- language pathologists and

         22  audiologists, medical technologists, physician

         23  assistants and medical technicians.  Those whose

         24  instruction, that is their college level or higher

         25  instruction was not in the English language, must
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          2  pass an English language proficiency exam.

          3                 An example of some of the problems

          4  faced by medical professionals can be seen in the

          5  licensing process for nurses.  To get a visa to work

          6  in the United States, a nurse must first pass the

          7  Commission on Graduates of Foreign Nursing Schools

          8  exam or the NCLEX- RN exam.  For full New York State

          9  licensure, nurses must pass the NCLEX- RN exam.

         10                 According to the National Council of

         11  State Boards of Nursing, only 47 percent of

         12  internationally educated registered nurses taking

         13  the NCLEX- RN certification exam for the first time

         14  pass.  That's compared to 84 percent of the U.S.

         15  Counterparts.  So that means that about half of the

         16  foreign educated nurses pass the exam in comparison

         17  to the U.S. Counterparts.

         18                 While for many professionals,

         19  including nursing, New York State Law does not

         20  require test applicants to have any particular

         21  immigration status to take the certification exams.

         22  However, as I will explain, for international

         23  students, merely getting certified does not

         24  guarantee them getting legal status.

         25                 Except for asylees, refugees,
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          2  permanent residents and others with indefinite legal

          3  immigration status, getting certified is only the

          4  first step in being able to work in the United

          5  States.  Those not in these categories must also

          6  get, separate and apart from their, separate and

          7  apart from their already being here, legal

          8  immigration status.  That is, they must get

          9  certified and separately they must qualify for some

         10  legal status.

         11                 Getting this status can be difficult

         12  for two reasons.  One is the lack of available legal

         13  services for those who seeking employment- based

         14  immigration sponsorship and the other is quota

         15  restrictions for H- 1 professional workers.  H- 1B

         16  professional status is the simplest and quickest way

         17  for most foreign students to get employment

         18  permission.

         19                 To get H- 1B status, professionals

         20  must have a four- year college degree and be offered

         21  a job in a degree, where that degree is a customary

         22  requirement.  Nurses face a particular problem in

         23  they do not qualify for H- 1B status if they hold a

         24  nursing degree that is a two- year, as opposed to a

         25  four- year degree.
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          2                 Many jobs do not require a four- year

          3  degree, that are nursing jobs.  So, for most nurses,

          4  even though they may pass through a nursing school

          5  program without a college degree, the only way

          6  they're going to be able to get legal work status is

          7  through the permanent process, not the temporary

          8  process and that is a lengthy and cumbersome

          9  process, as many of you know.

         10                 For graduating international F- 1

         11  students, the H 1B status I referred to, except for

         12  nurses who have that as the only choice, it is the

         13  only status obtainable quickly after graduation.

         14  Permanent status, as I mentioned, requires a more

         15  lengthy process and for many F- 1 students, an

         16  impractical process.

         17                 The first problem, as I mentioned,

         18  facing F- 1 students in getting, is getting quality

         19  advice and legal assistance.  At CUNY, we regularly

         20  provide education for our international student

         21  advisors and other counselors about the

         22  qualifications for H- 1B status and other

         23  employment- based immigration statuses.  We often

         24  are invited to speak to F- 1 students  --  I know,

         25  personally, I regularly do that, many times a year
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          2   --  about post- graduation educational

          3  opportunities and immigration opportunities.  At our

          4  centers, we regularly provide international students

          5  seeking H- 1B or permanent employment- based visas,

          6  advice and consultations.

          7                 Unfortunately, however, our current

          8  funding does not allow us to provide legal

          9  assistance.  That is, actual application assistance

         10  to applicants for H- 1B professional temporary

         11  worker or employment- based permanent residence

         12  status.

         13                 If the student goes outside of CUNY,

         14  which they have to do since we can't provide those

         15  services, getting H- 1B status typically costs

         16  applicants $1,500.00 to $3,000.00 in legal fees,

         17  plus up to $3,190.00 in filing fees.  Getting

         18  permanent status can cost up to $10,000.00 in legal

         19  fees and other costs. The citizenship, because our

         20  Project, the Citizenship and Immigration Project's

         21  priority is helping applicants for U.S. Citizenship

         22  and permanent residence, we have to forego handling

         23  these often complicated employment- based cases.

         24                 Many employers provide these services

         25  in- house; many don't.  Although the law requires
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          2  employers to pay these fees, most do not.  They

          3  require the employee to pay them, despite the law

          4  requiring the employer to pay.

          5                 Now this next part, I'm going to read

          6  slowly. It's a little arcane and complicated.  I'd

          7  be happy to answer questions about it.  It's a very,

          8  very important point.  Students who qualify for H-

          9  1B status, one problem they have is that there is a

         10  congressional mandated quota.  The United States

         11  Immigration and, the United States Citizenship and

         12  Immigration Services begins accepting applications

         13  for the new year, because the quota always runs out,

         14  in April, on April 1st, for employment beginning

         15  October 1st the new year.  Last year, the numbers

         16  ran out in May, before most F- 1 students graduated.

         17                 So, I'm going to give you an example.

         18    The student graduates in June, the typical F- 1

         19  student graduates in June.  By the way, you can see

         20  I'm not reading, it's easier for me just to explain

         21  it to you.  The typical F- 1 student graduates in

         22  June. He or she is granted one year of practical

         23  training.  By the time that person has graduated,

         24  there are no more visas available for H- 1B.  They

         25  can't get one.  They can get practical training and
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          2  then in April, that is April of the next year, their

          3  employer can file a petition for them and they can

          4  start working for that employer the beginning of the

          5  next fiscal year in October.

          6                 Meanwhile, their practical, their

          7  one- year practical training has expired in June and

          8  there's a gap between June and October, during which

          9  they either become out of status, they return home

         10  or many go back to college to get a second degree or

         11  a graduate degree that they don't really want or

         12  need and costs them a huge amount of money, but it's

         13  the only way they can stay legal in the United

         14  States.

         15                 Now, I've been encouraging students

         16  to try and graduate in January, if they can.  But,

         17  you know, that's, that's tough on international

         18  students because they pay on a per credit basis.

         19  That means they either take more credits or they

         20  delay their graduation and graduate late, which

         21  doesn't make anyone happy, neither the student nor

         22  the City University of New York. We want our

         23  students to graduate as early as possible and get

         24  out into the workplace.

         25                 So, that's a big problem that you,
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          2  that what you can do about, is use your bully pulpit

          3  to try and get Congress to change it.  We came close

          4  in the last Congress.  We may be able to get in

          5  changed in the next Congress and certainly the

          6  manufacturing community is very much behind that.

          7  So, I will continue with my testimony and answer

          8  questions about that.  I hope you all got it.  It's

          9  a little confusing.  It took me a long time to

         10  figure out a way to explain it.  So, I hope I did a

         11  good job.

         12                 So, let's now take a look at legal

         13  immigrants who are educated abroad.  Perhaps the

         14  biggest problem facing those immigrants getting into

         15  professions, and that's probably the biggest problem

         16  that we have, in terms of getting immigrants into

         17  the professions.  Again, we're talking about people

         18  who come here with green cards.  In other words,

         19  their mother files for them, their wife or husband

         20  files for them, but, as we've discussed, they, they

         21  want to get into the professions, but they were

         22  educated abroad.

         23                 These are some of the problems they

         24  face, first, and some of these have already been

         25  mentioned.  In some cases, their credentials do not
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          2  equivocate with U.S. Credentials.  That means that

          3  credential evaluation services and agencies will not

          4  find their education to be equivalent and they have

          5  to get further education.  Even where it is found to

          6  be equivalent, sometimes their language

          7  sufficiencies make it difficult for them to pass the

          8  New York State licensing exams.

          9                 So, in conclusion, this Council, of

         10  course, can assist foreign professionals in a

         11  variety of ways.  The most obvious is to provide

         12  funding for educational, that's language and test

         13  preparation services, as well as legal services to

         14  foreign national professionals seeking to work in

         15  the United States.

         16                 The Council can also urge, as I

         17  mentioned, Congress to increase the quota for H- 1B

         18  professionals, as I, which has been advocated by a

         19  number of organizations, but is yet to happen.

         20                 The elephant in the room is the

         21  biggest obstacle to getting immigrants into the,

         22  into professional employment and that is that many

         23  are undocumented.  Though that's not the topic of

         24  this Hearing, clearly, the optimal solution for

         25  increasing immigrants' access to the professions
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          2  would be comprehensive immigration reform that

          3  includes a path to citizenship for undocumented

          4  immigrants.  City officials can, of course, can play

          5  an important role in urging Congress to pass these

          6  broad reforms.

          7                 We, CUNY, on behalf of CUNY, I

          8  applaud the Immigration and Higher Education

          9  Committees for seeking to address these issues.  New

         10  York City and the nation can only benefit when we

         11  increase the entry of foreign professionals into our

         12  workforce.  Thank you so much.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  First, I want

         14  to recognize Council Member Mealy and Council Member

         15  Nelson, who have just recently joined us.  I have a

         16  few questions before I turn it over to my Co-Chair.

         17                 I'll start with Dr. Wernick.  When

         18  can you apply for the H-1B visa?  As a student, you

         19  have the F-1 visa and you're in the school and

         20  you're graduating.  When can you apply for the H- 1B

         21  visa and what are the requirements to apply for that

         22  H-1B visa?

         23                 DR. WERNICK:  Okay.  First of all,

         24  you have to have completed your studies and awarded

         25  a degree.  You don't have to have the certificate
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          2  and you don't have to march through graduation, but

          3  you need a letter from the college, explaining that

          4  you have completed all requirements for the degree.

          5                 Secondly, you have to have a job

          6  offer from an employer, where the, where your degree

          7  is a customary requirement for the duties of that

          8  job.  So, it can't just be any college degree for

          9  any job.  There must be a nexus, a relationship

         10  between the job duties and the education achieved by

         11  the student.

         12                 Finally, you need, what I mentioned,

         13  is that you need a visa available for you.  If

         14  there's no visa available for you in the particular

         15  year you're asking for one, you cannot get H- 1B

         16  status.  I should mention that for Master Degrees,

         17  there's an additional number of visas.  But, again,

         18  those visas are getting sucked up and my, my

         19  prediction would be that next year, by the first of

         20  May, there will be no visas available for new H 1B

         21  petitions for either those with Masters or Bachelors

         22  Degree.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  When you speak

         24  about job offer, is it the same as going through a

         25  labor certification first?  You must get that labor
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          2  certification or just an offer from a reputable

          3  company?

          4                 DR. WERNICK:  You need a petition

          5  filed by the company, but it is different from what

          6  we know as the labor certification process.  Unlike

          7  for permanent immigration visas, an H-1B employer

          8  need not show the unavailability of U.S. Workers.

          9  The employer must show the job is being offered at

         10  the, the higher of the prevailing wage or the wage

         11  offered to others working at a similar job in that

         12  company.  But, the employer need not show the

         13  unavailability of U.S. Workers.

         14                 So, the, there is something called

         15  the Labor Condition Application.  It's a very simple

         16  process.  It's done instantaneously over the

         17  Internet.  So, it's a relatively fast process and

         18  because there's a $1,000.00, if you pay a $1,000.00

         19  extra, you can get what they call premium

         20  processing.  The Immigration Service will adjudicate

         21  the petition in 15 calendar days.  In my experience,

         22  it's taking eight to ten days.

         23                 So, the process is simple.  The forms

         24  are simple. The requirements are simple.  What's not

         25  simple is that there's no visas available now.  So,
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          2  when, a few years ago, when there were more visas

          3  available before  --  what Congress did is they

          4  upped the number, but they sunset the upping of the

          5  numbers, so that the number went back down to its

          6  current level of 65,000. Some of those are reserved

          7  for Australians, Syngaporians and Chileans.  Then

          8  there's the 20,000 for, a, then there's the 20,000

          9  for people with Masters Degrees.  But, without, so

         10  the process is simple.  You don't need what's called

         11  a Labor Certification, but you do need a visa

         12  available to you.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What

         14  professions are most, you know, you go to school and

         15  you study  --

         16                 DR. WERNICK:  Yeah.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  What

         18  professions and I noted that you stated it must at

         19  least a four- year degree  --

         20                 DR. WERNICK:  Yes.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right, but what

         22  professions that would be qualified to fit into this

         23  category?

         24                 DR. WERNICK:  Well  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Because I
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          2  almost positive that you won't get it if you did

          3  something like black studies or, you know  --

          4                 DR. WERNICK:  I would depend.  Let's

          5  just take black studies.  What could you do?  If you

          6  get a job editing black studies textbooks for a

          7  publisher.  If you get a job as a teaching, let's

          8  say a teaching assistant to a black studies

          9  professor.  If you were to write for a newspaper who

         10  are knowing about black studies, if you're a

         11  journalist, for instance.  So, the idea is to, to

         12  look at the degree and for the employer to find a

         13  match.

         14                 Now, that's not the most common, that

         15  wouldn't be the most common degree.  Most H- 1Bs are

         16  in the computer science fields.  Most H- 1B

         17  employees works with computers in the computer

         18  science fields and other high tech fields.  But,

         19  virtually, any degree, a degree in English

         20  literature, for instance.  There are people working

         21  with H- 1, in H- 1B jobs with that degree.  As long

         22  as the employer can convince the Immigration Service

         23  that there's, the degree is needed for the position.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, in other

         25  words, you're saying the degree must somehow match
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          2  the employment.

          3                 DR. WERNICK:  Absolutely.  That's the

          4  test. That's the test.  Sometimes, you know,

          5  sometimes it requires sophisticated lawyering to

          6  convince the department, the Immigration Service of

          7  the nexus.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

          9  Before, I go on, let me turn to the CUNY folks, at

         10  least, I know you're part of CUNY, but the other

         11  folks of CUNY.  We have nursing programs at some of

         12  these CUNY schools, campuses.  Maybe you can let me

         13  understand why is it that we are struggling to keep

         14  students to get professionals, get nurses, why is it

         15  so easy to push out students who are nurses in the

         16  nursing program?

         17                 DR. COHEN:  You're quite right.

         18  There is a critical need for nurses and CUNY, over

         19  the last five years, in the Associate Degree

         20  programs, has increased the number of graduates in

         21  nursing by 50 percent, which is almost unheard of

         22  nationally.

         23                 But, you are also quite right that

         24  there are many students who enter CUNY colleges

         25  seeking to major in nursing, who are unable to gain
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          2  entry.  The reason for that is that the capacity of

          3  our nursing programs is strictly limited by the

          4  State Education Department, that mandates that we

          5  can, in the clinical nursing courses, the courses

          6  where students are practicing, where they're going

          7  on rounds in the hospitals, which is a great part of

          8  the Associate Degree program, those students can be

          9  in cohorts with a faculty member of no more than ten

         10  students to one faculty member.

         11                 Now, in addition to that, the State

         12  Education Department mandates that in order to teach

         13  nursing, you must have a Masters Degree in nursing

         14  with some education preparation that varies a bit.

         15  But, basically, it means that nurses, Masters

         16  prepared nurses must have taken some courses in

         17  education.

         18                 Now, we face the difficulty because

         19  in the hospitals, that same nurse will command a

         20  salary of $100,000.00 or more.  The salaries that

         21  most nursing programs can pay, and especially in the

         22  public institutions, is not that high.  So, we are

         23  competing for a very limited pool of faculty

         24  members.  We are making every effort to expand that

         25  pool; one of the reasons we've been able to expand
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          2  the number of graduates.  But, can we meet the need?

          3    No.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But I still

          5  want to address the issue of the fact that there is

          6  a critical need for nursing. What I have found in my

          7  district, a number of folks come to me and complain

          8  that the fact is they're being just one course to

          9  finish their program.  They may be short of a point,

         10  failing by a point, which, I think, they should be

         11  given an opportunity to at least take over the

         12  course or, you know, there are many ways in which we

         13  can deal with that.  If you're missing by one point,

         14  because of one point and one class to go?  I think

         15  if we know that there is a need  --

         16                 DR. COHEN:  Let me respond.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We know that

         18  there's a need and we want folks who have gone a

         19  year, a year and a half in the nursing program, to

         20  at least finish that program and not be expelled

         21  because of one point.  I think they should be given

         22  an opportunity and that's what I'm saying.  I've

         23  seen it in the different programs and yet we cry out

         24  that we don't have nurses.

         25                 DR. COHEN:  If, well, let me respond
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          2  to what I think is the, are two parts to the issue

          3  that you raise.  One has to do with the conditions

          4  under which a student might, indeed, go through the

          5  nursing program and be one course short.  The, that

          6  would be very unusual and I would be glad to talk to

          7  a student who faces that situation.

          8                 What is far more common is that

          9  students enter a community college and they say,

         10  when they enter, I want to be a nurse.  The

         11  community colleges all have very explicit

         12  regulations that are in their catalogs that say to a

         13  student, before you enter a nursing program, we want

         14  to make sure that you will be able to understand the

         15  dosages, to master the material.

         16                 So, all of the programs have what

         17  they call pre clinical requirements.  These are

         18  typically a course in English, a course in

         19  psychology, a course in anatomy and physiology and

         20  usually a course in mathematics.  Because, I'm sure

         21  that we would all agree that being able to calculate

         22  the dosages is important. It is surprising how

         23  frequently that's an issue for students.

         24                 Now, what often happens is that we

         25  may have hundreds of students in a college who are
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          2  seeking to enter nursing.  Even the larger nursing

          3  programs will have, for their entering class, 200

          4  spaces.  Now, the colleges are well aware that there

          5  is enormous competition for those 200 spaces.  So,

          6  they have gone to great lengths to say to every

          7  student, we will be scrupulously fair.

          8                 We do not, by the way, inquire as to

          9  immigration status.  We do not.  We simply say to

         10  students, you must take these first courses, these

         11  pre- clinical courses.  We will rank you according

         12  to your GPA at the end of those courses.  We will

         13  also ask you to take the National League of Nursing

         14  Pre- Nursing Test.  What nearly all of the colleges

         15  do is that they rank the applicants for an incoming

         16  class, top to bottom, and they use the NLN score as

         17  a tie- breaker.

         18                 So, my guess is that some of your

         19  constituents who have come to you say that I got a

         20  3.7, a very high GPA.  I ought to be a nurse.  But,

         21  in fact, the 200 spaces went to people with 3.8's

         22  and above.  It is a problem that is one that plagues

         23  the nursing programs.  Nursing's a helping

         24  profession.  They want students to be nurses.  But,

         25  they also know that they cannot have more than 200
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          2  or 75 or whatever the number is that they are

          3  limited to.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I understand

          5  your explanation.  But, I don't think it's at that

          6  point I'm looking at.  I'm looking at the point

          7  where they have already been accepted in the nursing

          8  program.  They have been doing nursing courses for

          9  the past year and a half, but they just have maybe

         10  one more semester to go before they graduate  --

         11                 DR. COHEN:  I would  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  That's what I

         13  would like, you know, and it's, frequently that's

         14  the case.

         15                 DR. COHEN:  I will give you my card

         16  and I will ask you to refer students to me, because

         17  typically what happens is that even a student who

         18  may have failed a course, will be able to take that

         19  course over.  The colleges differ a little bit in

         20  how they handle that situation.  But, the colleges

         21  do give students another opportunity.  There are

         22  limits on opportunities because those seats are very

         23  scarce, as you know.  But, I'll give you my card and

         24  I will ask that you  --

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Thank you.
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          2                 DR. COHEN:  --  Have them please

          3  contact me.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I would like to

          5  call on Chairperson Barron, who may have a series of

          6  questions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes.  Thank you

          8  very much Chair Stewart.  I first would like to ask

          9  Ms. Kurian, some more information on your model that

         10  you got from San Francisco, the Welcome Back Center.

         11    When will the program become operational and how

         12  many students will it take in?

         13                 DR. KURIAN:  The particular

         14  difficulty we've had, of course, is that we've not

         15  gotten funding, the funding that we would need in

         16  order to set up an ambitious project such as this.

         17  We have applied for grant funding to the U.S.

         18  Department of Labor, but were not successful,

         19  unfortunately.  So, currently, we are able to serve

         20  no more than about 50 students because  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Fifty?

         22                 DR. KURIAN:  Yeah.  But, ideally, I

         23  mean, you know, we know, and we're able to only

         24  provide limited numbers of services.  I mean, we

         25  provide English language classes and some
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          2  counseling, but not the level of career pathways

          3  counseling and advisement that they really need.

          4  And, additional licensing preparation courses, which

          5  is another area of need.  But, funding has really

          6  been limited and  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Will it lead to

          8  any degree granting?

          9                 DR. KURIAN:  In some instances, they

         10  need additional degrees and in some instances, what

         11  they need to do is, really pass their particular

         12  certification exams.  As a number of people have

         13  spoken to, there are also additional English

         14  language exams that they need to pass.  This, these

         15  are English language class, exams that are quite

         16  advanced because the requirements are advanced and

         17  great.  The limited funding that we have allows us

         18  to offer one course a semester, but not more.  We

         19  now have some funding that the college makes

         20  available for, for two courses a year.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  For the nursing,

         22  isn't it a real challenge if an H- 1B, you have to

         23  have a four- year degree -

         24                 DR. COHEN:  Yes.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  So what
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          2  happens to all of these nurses with Associate

          3  Degrees and they have to wait on clinicals and

          4  that's a real problem when you have ten per class

          5  and one, some are nursing students I've spoken to,

          6  had to wait a long time for clinicals and how does

          7  that impact their status? How does that impact their

          8  ability to apply or get to the four year degree if

          9  they want to go in that direction?  And, what

         10  happens if they don't and they only have two years?

         11                 DR. COHEN:  That's a very complicated

         12  question and I'll try to answer it in pieces, but

         13  I'll also call on Ms. Shockley, whose program at

         14  Lehman College is specifically designed for the

         15  foreign- trained nurse who really needs help, not

         16  with a degree, but with the preparation for the

         17  NCLEX exam.  That is the exam that the State

         18  requires that nurses pass in order to practice.

         19                 That, in think in the complexity of

         20  your question, that's probably the easiest part to

         21  answer, because if that nurse has a degree and even

         22  the equivalent of an Associates Degree and can pass

         23  that, if their status is legal, then they can

         24  proceed to employment.

         25                 The issue that I would ask Dr.
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          2  Wernick to address is when they do not have legal

          3  status.  But, as far as your program, that's

          4  primarily a preparation for passing the exam and for

          5  being able to interact with patients.

          6                 I will say, as an aside, something we

          7  didn't talk about, is that in many of our nursing

          8  programs, the irony, in my view, is that we spend a

          9  great deal of time working with our American- born

         10  nurses to make them culturally sensitive because

         11  they are dealing with patients who speak Korean, who

         12  are used to a different kind of medical practice.

         13  It's always, it would be nice if we could meet more

         14  intelligently in the middle.

         15                 In terms of what happens to the nurse

         16  who has an Associates Degree who wants to enter a

         17  baccalaureate program, in order to make it easier to

         18  get legal status, that person would enter what's

         19  called an RN Pathway program in the City University.

         20  While those are also competitive, they are not,

         21  there are not as many applicants attempting to get

         22  the available spaces in those programs.

         23                 Those are baccalaureate programs that

         24  are designed for someone who has the Associates

         25  Degree or equivalent and is already registered as a
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          2  nurse.  Those are a little bit easier to accommodate

          3  students because we don't have the limit on the

          4  clinical courses.  Students have already done their

          5  clinicals. So, we can accommodate more students in

          6  those programs.  We have those at Lehman, at York

          7  College, New York City Tech, Hunter College and the

          8  College of Staten Island.  Allan, did you want to

          9  say anything about?

         10                 DR. WERNICK:  Sure.  Nurses can

         11  qualify for permanent residence.  The process is a

         12  little bit, it's more lengthy, more complicated,

         13  more expensive and there's a backlog in the quota

         14  for that as well.  I didn't really address that, you

         15  know, I didn't address permanent residence as much,

         16  but there's now a backlog in the quota.

         17                 The one thing that's easier for

         18  nurses, as I said, the Department of Labor has

         19  recognized, recognized already that there's a

         20  shortage.  So, the paperwork processing is a little

         21  bit less cumbersome than it might be for other

         22  professions, but if there's no visas available, that

         23  could be a problem for the, for the individual.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Tell me a little

         25  bit more about the congressional quota, you know,
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          2  what is the quota  --

          3                 DR. WERNICK:  Yeah.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  What could

          5  happen with that if we put pressure on Congress?

          6  What would be something we should shoot for?  How

          7  could we  --

          8                 DR. WERNICK:  Yeah, the quota, so,

          9  there was, first there was no quota.  Then there was

         10  a quota.  Then the quota was not enough and so

         11  Congress put it up to 195,000  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Was there a

         13  quota when the immigrants were white?

         14                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry?  It's more

         15  recent than that, actually.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Oh, okay, just

         17  checking, just checking.

         18                 DR. WERNICK:  The, so, again, as I

         19  mentioned with the census, so now the quota's

         20  65,000.  But, there are certain Treaties that the

         21  United States has engaged in, where it has signed

         22  with certain countries that have reciprocal

         23  professional, you know, visas available and that has

         24  taken some away from the 65,000.  Then there's

         25  20,000, as I mentioned, for individuals with U.S.
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          2  Masters Degrees.  So, somebody coming with a foreign

          3  Masters Degree cannot qualify for that.

          4                 When the quota was 195,000, it was

          5  not quite reached.  I suspect, though, that with the

          6  economy picking up the way it is  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  It's going from

          8  195,000?

          9                 DR. WERNICK:  195,000 to 65,000.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  To 65,000?

         11                 DR. WERNICK:  Yeah.  So, that's

         12  what's caused this, this terrible disruption.  It

         13  affects every aspect of society because, you know,

         14  while there's unemployment in certain areas, there

         15  is a need, there is a need, I would suggest, in our

         16  economy, to be able to afford these workers.  At

         17  least that's what businesses are saying to the, to,

         18  to Congress, as much as they can, that they, that

         19  there  --  because what's happening is that if you

         20  can't bring the workers here from abroad, they're

         21  going to go, the jobs are going to go abroad.

         22                 So, something that Lou Dobbs, I

         23  think, fails to understand.  He's talking about the

         24  jobs going abroad, but he doesn't understand that

         25  one of the ways to keep the jobs in the United
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          2  States is to let the workers come into the United

          3  States.

          4                 When the quota was 195,000, it wasn't

          5  reached. But, I would suggest that a quota of

          6  195,000 now would probably be inadequate because the

          7  economy has surged in the last few years, especially

          8  in those professions.  So, you know, my guess is

          9  something, and it's just a guess, there may be some,

         10  some research on this, but I'm not aware of it, you

         11  know, something more like 250,000  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  250,000?

         13                 DR. WERNICK:  --  And, you know,

         14  it's, it's pretty close because you have, you do

         15  have business behind it.  I should make you aware,

         16  though, that the nature, you know, unions are very

         17  concerned about this question and have been very

         18  much in opposition to increasing these quotas.

         19  Because, even though the statute requires the

         20  employer to pay either the prevailing wage or the

         21  average wage for that work, for a similar job in

         22  that community, or the work, the wage paid to

         23  workers working at that level, in that company.  So,

         24  in other words, it should be a fair wage.

         25                 The unions feel that the enforcement
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          2  is inadequate.  So, I would suggest, my response to

          3  that would be, because I do favor an increase, and

          4  this is not CUNY's position, it's my personal

          5  position.  Although, I'm sure, I would like to think

          6  that CUNY would go along with it.  I would like to

          7  see an increase in the numbers and an increase in

          8  the enforcement to make sure that U.S. Workers are

          9  protected.  There's no reason why you can't do both

         10  at the same time.

         11                 I should point out, one thing I

         12  didn't mention, is that individuals who are working

         13  for universities or research institutions affiliated

         14  with universities are outside the cap. So, for

         15  instance, our professors, of which we have many in

         16  CUNY who are foreign- born, we don't have a problem

         17  with the cap.  We file any time we want and they're

         18  able, obviously, because the jobs require a

         19  Bachelors Degree or higher, we're able to employ

         20  them.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So, in about the

         22  65,000, you would say how often does it run out, in

         23  May or April  --

         24                 DR. WERNICK:  Well, every year,

         25  since, the last two year, the cap of 65,000, I
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          2  believe, has been in place for two years and every,

          3  or three years, and every year it's, it's happened

          4  quicker.  So, it was early May this year and my

          5  guess it won't be to the end of April.

          6                 Because, what employers, big

          7  employers do, like IBM, for instance, they'll have

          8  their lawyers prepare all the H 1B petitions.  Then,

          9  on the 30th, they will send them by overnight mail

         10  and they'll come in a big box to the immigration --

         11  so, I'm not making, this is exactly how it's done

         12   --  to the immigration service and it will arrive

         13  on April 1st and those will be the ones that are in

         14  the queue.  Then, if too many come in, like I'm,

         15  what's happened, just, you might find this

         16  interesting.  Please tell me if I'm taking too much

         17  time.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You're taking

         19  too much time.

         20                 DR. WERNICK:  Okay, I'll pass then.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  No, no, just

         22  continue.

         23                 DR. WERNICK:  Oh, I thought you were

         24  serious.   I apologize.  I'm way too serious today.

         25  If, on the last day, you can imagine there's like,
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          2  you know, 50 visas left and a thousand come in or

          3  500 come in, there's actually a lottery.  They

          4  actually just pick them out at random and that's who

          5  gets the visas, which I don't think is a very

          6  sophisticated way for an advanced, industrialized

          7  country to choose its laborforce.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I agree.  One of

          9  the concerns I had and you did address it, but I

         10  think we really need to, and the whole immigration

         11  issue and natural citizens and particularly with

         12  African Americans who feel that, here they come,

         13  taking our jobs and have us competing against

         14  Mexicans, competing against the Caribbean community.

         15    They drive this wedge in our community as though

         16  it's the Mexicans that are taking our jobs and not

         17  the Republicans that are messing us up.

         18                 But, you know, it's a very

         19  sophisticated kind of language we've got to put

         20  together to support immigration, but not at the

         21  expense, you know, of the African American workers

         22  in particular.  Because, I go in my communities and

         23  they say, why are you doing this?  Why are you

         24  supporting this immigration because they're taking

         25  our jobs?
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          2                 How do we address that around the

          3  quota, a piece? You addressed it a little bit, to

          4  assure that the families for workers who are

          5  citizens who are born here, whatever, so that we

          6  don't let them do the divide and conquer?

          7                 DR. WERNICK:  Let me start with the

          8  non professionals, if I may, because that's really

          9  where the rubber hits the road because the, you

         10  know, as Chair of the Immigration Committee, you're

         11  more aware than I am that  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  He's the Chair.

         13  I'm Higher Education.

         14                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry, pardon me,

         15  as Chair of the Higher Ed. Committee is really what

         16  I meant to say, you're more aware than I am, that I

         17  would suggest that the problem with the employment

         18  of, for instance, African Americans, is not one of

         19  competition with foreign labor, but it's one of

         20  education and the opportunities that  --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I wouldn't say

         22  education, because see that borders on  --

         23                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Some of the

         25  racism I charged with the Mayor  --
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          2                 DR. WERNICK:  No, I'm just saying,

          3  the opportunity for higher education, but anyways

          4  (sic)  --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  No  --

          6                 DR. WERNICK:  --  Let me just  --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Even the

          8  educated are not getting hired and even those who

          9  have experience and have the contracting.  It's

         10  racism, not education and it's having us compete

         11  against immigrants.  So, I think one of the  --

         12                 DR. WERNICK:  Well  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I'll be finished

         14  in a second.

         15                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  One of the

         17  fallacies of that is education.  That's what the

         18  Mayor said, that it's education. But, in fact, the

         19  educated African American is not getting hired or

         20  sometimes they say we don't have license, we don't

         21  have the right companies.  When we did a study, a

         22  disparity study and found out that 16 percent of the

         23  construction companies that meet the City's criteria

         24  for having everything together, whether it's

         25  bonding, insurance, are African American.  Yet, they
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          2  get one percent of the contract.  Forty percent of

          3  those who meet that criteria are white male-run and

          4  they get 72 percent of the contracts.  So, that has

          5  nothing to do with education or qualification.  So,

          6  I just wanted to set that straight.

          7                 DR. WERNICK: Well, for native

          8  workers, and that's a position held by most of the

          9  most serious scholars and that's, that's the

         10  information I'm knowledgeable about.

         11                 Where there is real competition

         12  between U.S. labor and immigrant labor is at the

         13  lowest skilled, and there are, there is respective

         14  research that shows that new immigrants tend to

         15  depress wages of lesser-educated African American

         16  workers.  So, that's a fact.

         17                 So, when you ask me how to address

         18  that, though, I would suggest this.  Isn't, doesn't

         19  it make more sense for all workers, at whatever

         20  level, in the United States, that the undocumented

         21  workers get the legal status that will allow them to

         22  join unions, complain about unfair and unreasonable

         23  working conditions?  Because, these workers are here

         24  now working anyways (sic).

         25                 This is how I, it's my own personal
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          2  view of how I see this.  If we take the position

          3  that these workers should remain an underclass, I

          4  don't see how that helps me or other workers in the

          5  United States be able to improve our lives.  But,

          6  it, you're right, it requires, it does require a

          7  sophisticated approach to discussing these issues

          8  and it's, in some ways, counterintuitive.  In other

          9  words, you say, oh you're going to let a bunch of

         10  workers in, how could that possibly not depress

         11  wages and working conditions.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right.  I won't

         13  belabor the point, but even the study on education,

         14  there are other studies that might refute that and

         15  I'll just share that with you.  I've got your card

         16  and we'll sit down and talk.

         17                 I just want to ask one last question

         18  for Lehman folk.  How many of our foreign- trained

         19  students have obtained a certificate or jobs after

         20  completing your transition program?

         21                 MS. SHOCKLEY:  Through the

         22  Foreign-Born RN program, of the, let's see, of the

         23  80 students that completed the program, we have,

         24  let's see, 43 percent passed the NCLEX-RN exam, 20

         25  percent passed the NCLEX-PN exam for practical
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          2  nursing.  Then, a few others were upgraded in their

          3  position, so a total of 76.6 were upgraded through

          4  the training that they received.

          5                 For the Foreign-Born RN program, we

          6  just had one cohort graduate this past May, a group

          7  of 15 students.  Of those 15, seven have passed the

          8  NCLEX exam, one student, we know, has failed the

          9  exam and is scheduled to take it again and they all

         10  are currently working as registered nurses, the ones

         11  that passed it and the ones that are in the queue

         12  are working as nurses and waiting for licensure.

         13                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  All right.

         14  Thank you very much Mr. Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  At this time, I

         16  want to just recognize that joining us is Council

         17  Member Brewer and Council Member Mark- Viverito.

         18  But, before I call on Council Member Palma, I just

         19  wanted to follow- up on a couple of questions.  When

         20  you say one takes the exam, the NCLEX exam, is that

         21  to be, you must take that to become licensed?

         22                 MS. SHOCKLEY:  Yeah.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Do you have to

         24  still take a state board or some other one or that's

         25  the state board?
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          2                 MS. SHOCKLEY:  That is the state

          3  board.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

          5  What form of, you know, I know some licenses you

          6  have to have a Social Security Number.  If you're a

          7  foreign student, what number do they use to take

          8  this exam?  Or, if they are allowed to take this

          9  exam, what number do you have to have?

         10                 MS. SHOCKLEY:  These students aren't

         11  foreign students.  These students are citizens.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  These are

         13  citizens?

         14                 MS. SHOCKLEY:  Yes.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But, what do

         16  you do with a student who is maybe a foreign student

         17  that is on an F- 1 visa that wants to take the exam?

         18                 DR. COHEN:  They are not allowed to

         19  take the exam because the state law is that a

         20  student, in order to be registered as a nurse, must

         21  be a citizen or a legal resident.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, what we are

         23  saying here is that basically we can all train

         24  students and go out overseas to bring students here,

         25  encourage them to get into our universities and get
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          2  trained, but there's no way of them being able to

          3  adjust themselves after they graduate from this

          4  program, we make it that difficult for these

          5  students?

          6                 Is there any, Dr. Wernick, is there

          7  any way that you see that we can help these students

          8  who we go and recruit from the Caribbean, from

          9  Europe, from all over the world to come to our

         10  universities, to study nursing or to study whatever

         11  field, as a foreign student?  Is there any way we

         12  can help them become documented?

         13                 DR. WERNICK:  Well, let me just

         14  clarify.  You know, my understanding is that from a

         15  legal point of view, the lack of a Social Security

         16  card is not an obstacle to actually, to taking the

         17  exam.  If the person's coming from a foreign

         18  country, they can be admitted to the United States

         19  pending, pending access to the, obtaining a Social

         20  Security card.

         21                 But, I think that there are, for the

         22  international student, the problem, in my

         23  experience, is with the federal legislation.  I

         24  mentioned a couple of things that we can do for some

         25  of them.  For instance, if we had the resources, we
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          2  could provide free legal services for them.  There

          3  used to be some agencies that did that.  But, you

          4  know, they started charging and the fees become

          5  comparable to those charged by lawyers.

          6                 For, for people coming from foreign

          7  countries, the ones who go through CUNY, they speak

          8  English, that's not, that's not primarily the issue

          9  for them.  The ones who don't go through CUNY, you

         10  know, we can have language skills, language skills.

         11                 But, I think the real problem at,

         12  that I'm hearing from my students is this, these

         13  legal barriers.  You know, the fact that there just

         14  aren't the visas available for them.  Their visas

         15  now are going mainly, primarily to people who either

         16  are in Masters programs or getting Masters Degrees

         17  or coming from foreign countries.  So, our

         18  international students here are getting cut out.

         19  They just get  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, let me

         21  clear this up for us, because I'm still confused  --

         22                 DR. WERNICK:  Okay.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  We were told a

         24  while ago that once you graduate, you can get the H-

         25  1B visa if it's in the timely process.  Now you're
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          2  saying also that, as a nurse, for you to be able to

          3  get your license to practice nursing, you can't take

          4  the exam because you don't have a Social Security

          5  Number.

          6                 DR. WERNICK:  That's not my

          7  understanding.  My understanding is that you can

          8  take the exam.  The problem with nurses is

          9  different.  The problem with nurses is, typically

         10  nursing does not require a four- year degree, right,

         11  we, that's explained  --

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  No, I'm going

         13  for the four year, the one with the four- year

         14  degree.

         15                 DR. WERNICK:  Okay.  My mother was a

         16  nurse, so I know about that.  And, those who have a

         17  four- year degree, yes, they can get an H- 1B,

         18  assuming that there's a visa available for them and

         19  assuming that they have a job, which requires the

         20  four year degree.

         21                 But, you understand, I mean, I'm not

         22  an expert on hospital management, but having helped,

         23  tried to help hospitals with their hiring, you,

         24  there aren't that many jobs.  In other words, the

         25  typical nursing job, Immigration will not recognize
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          2  as having a, requiring a Bachelors Degree.  So,

          3  let's, for instance, a supervisory position.  Well,

          4  how do you get to be a supervisor if you graduated,

          5  if you graduate from college with a four- year

          6  degree in nursing and you want to go get a job as a

          7  supervisor, well, that's just not realistic.  No

          8  hospital is going to hire you as a supervisor.

          9  They're going to hire you as an entry level

         10  position.  Well, if it's an entry level position, it

         11  doesn't require a college degree.

         12                 So, how do you make that leap?  So,

         13  what the law has done is, it set up these, you know,

         14  basically, you know, kafkaesque kind of obstacles to

         15  having people, you know, get through the system.

         16  So, short of, short of some kind of change in the

         17  federal legislation, I don't really see how it's

         18  going to happen for the, for nursing.

         19                 Now, for other, other professions,

         20  you know, there may be other issues.  I used nursing

         21  because I had understood that that's an issue that

         22  many people are concerned about and I know that in

         23  CUNY there's been a lot of efforts to deal with

         24  medical professionals.  I mean, if you get a, for

         25  instance, if you get a degree in architecture, for
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          2  instance, as an F- 1 student, well then, then your

          3  only problem is the quota, but you don't have a

          4  licensing problem, you know, you don't have an H- 1B

          5  job problem.  In other words, if you have a four-

          6  year degree or a Masters Degree, you get a job

          7  offer, you can get the H- 1B again, assuming there's

          8  a visa available for you.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  So, but  --

         10                 DR. WERNICK:  Does that make sense,

         11  what I just said?

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I'm still

         13  confused about this because of the fact that you may

         14  have a degree, but unless, for you to be able to

         15  practice, you need to have a license in New York

         16  City, New York State.

         17                 DR. WERNICK:  Yes you do.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  So,

         19  in order to get that license, you've got to take an

         20  exam, which is  --

         21                 DR. WERNICK:  That's correct.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  Basically

         23  to have, you must have a Social Security Number to

         24  get that exam.  So, I'm trying, I'm confused  --

         25                 DR. WERNICK:  That's not my
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          2  understanding.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, you know

          4  in, what other profession do we have, what other

          5  profession do we have  --

          6                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry?

          7                 DR. COHEN:  The real issue is

          8  licensing.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  What other

         10  profession do we have that you can get a license

         11  without taking that state exam, which requires that

         12  you have a Social Security Number?  I would like to

         13  know if there is any profession, for example,

         14  whether it's to be, if you're going to work at a big

         15  company as an accountant, you need to have, you

         16  know, to be a certified accountant, you need to be

         17   --

         18                 DR. WERNICK:  You can do that.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You can do

         20  that, do the work, without having a license?

         21                 DR. WERNICK:  Oh, I didn't  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  You can get

         23  employed without a license?

         24                 DR. WERNICK:  No, but you can get the

         25  license. There's no, there's no legal obstacle that
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          2  I know of to that person getting the license.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Without a

          4  Social Security Number?

          5                 DR. WERNICK:  Without a, well, at

          6  some point, they're going to have to get a Social

          7  Security Number, but it's not an obstacle to their

          8  licensure.  In fact, most international students,

          9  during that year of practical training get a Social

         10  Security Number anyway.

         11                 I have not, in most professions,

         12  there are some professions that require permanent

         13  residence citizenship.  I have consulted with as

         14  many people as I can about everything I could of the

         15  topic and I don't understand.  I've heard this, what

         16  you're saying, about you need the Social Security

         17  Number.  I haven't been able to find anyone to

         18  verify that except people who talk to each other

         19  about it.  But, when I called the, when I consulted

         20  the experts, like some of our international student

         21  advisors and when I talk to  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Sir  --

         23                 DR. WERNICK:  --   Regulations and

         24  when I contacted other immigration law

         25  professionals, none of them can confirm that  --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Sir, well  --

          3                 DR. WERNICK:  I don't know where that

          4  comes from.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

          6  Well, so far as I know, even down to driver's

          7  license  --

          8                 DR. WERNICK:  Driver's license  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  You need a

         10  Social Security Number.  So, I'm looking at any

         11  other professions.  I want to know which ones do you

         12  have that you can get a license in New York State,

         13  which one, I would like to know which one that you

         14  can get a license without a Social Security Number?

         15  I just want to know which ones.  I'm, I cannot find

         16  anybody who can answer that question.

         17                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm answering it for

         18  you, okay?

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Which is it?

         20                 DR. WERNICK:  Nursing, architecture,

         21  engineering --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, we have a

         23  lot of nurses who come and say they can't take the

         24  exam because of the fact  --

         25                 DR. WERNICK:  And I'm saying that I
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          2  don't understand where that comes from.  Can

          3  somebody, maybe, we have some colleagues from Medgar

          4  Evers.  Maybe they can assist me in answering this

          5  because I, I haven't, I know you, I've heard you say

          6  that before, Council Member, and I'm not suggesting

          7  that, you know  --  I've heard you say that before,

          8  so I prepared really well to answer that question

          9  because I knew it was going to come up.  I cannot

         10  find any authority and I have not been able to find

         11  somebody who can tell me that they couldn't take the

         12  exam because they didn't have a Social Security.

         13  You can't get a driver's license, but that's

         14  different.  You didn't ask me about a driver's

         15  license.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, so

         17   --

         18                 DR. WERNICK:  A driver's license  --

         19                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, I just

         20  heard the, the good doctor here says that even

         21  nursing  --

         22                 DR. WERNICK:  I think there's a,

         23  there may be like a misunderstanding, but from what

         24  my understanding of what the law is, there's not a

         25  requirement.  You can, let me suggest that perhaps
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          2   --

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We got it.  We

          4  got it.

          5                 DR. WERNICK:  Oh, you got it.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yeah.  I think

          7  we got the point.

          8                 DR. WERNICK:  You think I'm right?

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I think we got

         10  the point, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Does anyone

         12  have any questions.

         13                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry?

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Council Member

         15  Brewer.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  This is a

         17  little bit off topic, but in the paper, it says that

         18  some of the private universities and John Jay,

         19  because of this horrendous visa situation, are

         20  operating overseas campuses.  Is that something that

         21  you have discussed, maybe it's at a different level

         22  and a different discussion.  John Jay is going to

         23  try to do that.

         24                 DR. COHEN:  I'm sorry, I am not aware

         25  of that. So, I  --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.

          3                 DR. COHEN:  --  Really can't speak to

          4  that.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  It's

          6  something that the private universities are doing

          7  because it is so impossible to get visas.  I thought

          8  it's something that CUNY should think about if that

          9  is, we want CUNY students to, we want students

         10  overseas to be part of CUNY.  One way to do it is to

         11  have an overseas campus.  All right, thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I want to thank

         13  you for such a lively debate.  Dr. Wernick, I'll

         14  have to sit down and talk with you a little bit more

         15    --

         16                 DR. WERNICK:  Sure, I would be happy

         17  to do that. If I could just interrupt for one moment

         18  before, because I'm worried you're going to get to

         19  the end and I won't have a chance to say this  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  He never

         21  mentioned his name, that's what happened.

         22                 DR. WERNICK:  I'm sorry?  No, that's

         23  fine.  I should say and I've said this off the

         24  record too, I truly enjoy attending these Hearings

         25  led by the two Honorable Chairs, because they're
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          2  always very intellectually stimulating.

          3                 One thing I, you know, and this is

          4  just an aside, really, you know, when I introduced

          5  the, I introduced the, my presentation, by talking

          6  about all the work we've done and of course, I think

          7  it may be obvious to and knowledgeable to you all,

          8  but maybe there are people here from the press or

          9  other places that are unaware that our ability to do

         10  all these wonderful things we do in CUNY now with

         11  all these centers is really, primarily, a result of

         12  the support that we've gotten from your two

         13  Committees.  So, I just, I just thought that that

         14  should be acknowledged.  I know you're aware of it,

         15  but I wanted others in the room who are perhaps not

         16  aware of it.  So, we all thank you.

         17                 I will just tell you, I don't want to

         18  get too mushy, but this is like an amazing

         19  experience for me and as the Director, I can tell

         20  you that, you know, as I said to someone the other

         21  day from a foundation, if I get hit by a truck

         22  tomorrow, I will really feel I have done, you know,

         23  I have done work on this planet that is really

         24  meaningful and, to a large part that's, that's the

         25  result of the work you have done.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Yes, thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  We

          4  want to thank you.  We want to thank you very much

          5  for your testimony and we will continue  --

          6                 DR. WERNICK:  Over the top.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  --  On some of

          8  the issues. Let's call the next panel.  Dr. Cohen, I

          9  didn't get that card.  I didn't get the card.

         10                 DR. COHEN:  I've got to get it out of

         11  my briefcase.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         13  We'd like to call Elizabeth Barroso from LaGuardia

         14  Community College.  We want to call also Esther

         15  Lopez and Gladys Padro'-Soler and also Ira Pierce.

         16  All right, would you please first, when you give

         17  your testimony, just identify yourself and begin.

         18  Is there anyone else who hasn't signed up that

         19  wanted to testify?  Because this is the last panel.

         20  If you didn't sign up and you were not called, all

         21  right.  So, you may begin identifying yourself and

         22  then start with your testimony.  Thank you.

         23                 MR. PIERCE:  Who's first?

         24                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Well, spin a

         25  coin and see who's first.
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          2                 MR. PIERCE:  Well, ladies first,

          3  because they've got three of them, so.

          4                 MS. BARROSO:  Thank you.  Good

          5  afternoon.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Please put the

          7  mic on, the mic, at the back.  Okay.

          8                 MS. BARROSO:  Good afternoon.  Thank

          9  you Council Members for this opportunity  --  okay,

         10  thank you.  That's it? Okay.  Thank you Council

         11  Members for this opportunity to tell you about my

         12  experience.  My name  --  okay, my name is Elizabeth

         13  Barroso.  I am a student at LaGuardia Community

         14  College.  I am for nursing.

         15                 When I came here, one year and a

         16  half, I had some problems about different situations

         17  in relation to how to get my license.  The other

         18  problem is about language and the other problem is

         19  what's the requirements I need to complete for, to

         20  start my job here and my career to be a nurse in the

         21  United States.

         22                 So, I found many problems because I

         23  don't, I didn't find a specific information about

         24  that.  When I surfing by Internet, I got a lot of

         25  information, but not clear, no focus in the, in this
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          2  situation, how you get a license, where apply, how

          3  apply.  So, I waste time because when I came here, I

          4  came with two- day visa, so I limit my time.  So,

          5  others difficult is obviously language for I need to

          6  develop my skills in listening and in speaking.  So,

          7  but the focus to the health, the health care.

          8                 So, when I phone the program, asking

          9  where the community college, this program help me

         10  about develop skills in, in speaking and listening,

         11  communication with patients.  Some examples, how

         12  communicated with the patient, what is the specific

         13  vocabulary, everything about that.  But, those are

         14  specific things was connected with different

         15  programs and received to counseling and tutoring for

         16  different things.

         17                 Specific orientate and maybe sponsor

         18  scholarship or international hospitals, specific

         19  Elmhurst hospital with connected with LaGuardia

         20  Community College.  So, for me, it's really, really

         21  important the program at LaGuardia Community College

         22  because I received the benefits about my problem or

         23  my situation in this country.  I think the specific

         24  thing is they have a lot of English skills and how

         25  communicated with the patient of the individual at
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          2  the hospital.  Thank you.

          3                 MR. PIERCE:  You want me to go?

          4  Okay, all right. I was going to say, ladies first.

          5  That's okay.  Chairmen Barron and Stewart and

          6  Members of the Committee.  I'm Ira Pierce, a

          7  licensed practicing civil engineer and an Instructor

          8  at the Cooper Union for the Advancement of Science

          9  and Art.  In addition, I'm President of Pierce

         10  Engineers here in Manhattan and the Founder of the

         11  Green Oil Company.

         12                 I thank you for this opportunity to

         13  appear before you today to talk about Cooper Union's

         14  Immigrant Engineer Retraining Program.  While I know

         15  the focus of your Hearing is on students currently

         16  matriculating and the barriers they may encounter in

         17  seeking a professional license, I thought our

         18  experiences running a successful program that

         19  focuses on immigrants with existing degrees would be

         20  helpful in your efforts and, parenthetically, I must

         21  say that the need for professional licensure in

         22  engineering is critical as well, obviously.

         23                 First, a little about Cooper Union,

         24  founded by Peter Cooper in 1859 and I went to school

         25  there a couple years later, after 1959.  Cooper
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          2  Union, located at the gateway to the East Village

          3  and Lower Manhattan, has become one of the most

          4  competitive schools for art, architecture and

          5  engineering in the country today.  Dedicated to

          6  preserving Peter Cooper's vision that "education

          7  should be as free as water and air," Cooper Union is

          8  the only private tuition- free scholarship college

          9  in the country.  If you have the talent to attend,

         10  you're awarded a scholarship.  If you don't get a

         11  scholarship, you don't attend.

         12                 Furthering the founder's vision in

         13  1987, Cooper Union started the Immigrant Engineer

         14  Retraining Program, with the help of the Bnai Zion

         15  Foundation, a non-profit, non-partisan resettlement

         16  organization.  The program offers approximately 15

         17  introductory and high technology courses designed to

         18  help immigrant engineers learn computer and business

         19  skills necessary to secure professional employment

         20  in the United States.

         21                 With many newcomers struggling with a

         22  different language and a radically different work

         23  culture, the program helps bridge the cultural gap

         24  by teaching new skills and procedures germane to the

         25  American workforce.
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          2                 Since the Program's inception, the

          3  Immigrant Engineer Retraining Program has taught

          4  over 3,000 students and placed approximately 1,700,

          5  about 50 to 55 percent of them in jobs.  And,

          6  parenthetically, again, I find that this is my job,

          7  to find them jobs through networking and that's what

          8  we do.

          9                 Our participants are quite diverse.

         10  In the fall of 2006 semester, we had 52 students, 20

         11  percent of whom came from Africa, Asia, South

         12  America and Eastern Europe.  The others hails from

         13  the Former Soviet Union, Russia, Ukraine,

         14  Belorussia, Estonia, Moldova, Uzbekistan, et cetera.

         15    In short, the Immigrant Engineering Retraining

         16  Program is a vital extension of Cooper Union's 19th

         17  Century mission to provide free educational

         18  opportunities for new Americans.

         19                 I have provided additional

         20  information about this Program, along with an

         21  article in the most prestigious magazine in the

         22  engineering field, PRISM  --  this is a magazine of

         23  the American Society of Engineering Education and it

         24  was a cover story, so that you can learn more about

         25  the Program.  I am free to answer any questions you
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          2  might have about its successes and challenges.  I

          3  thank you.  Sure.

          4                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Good afternoon

          5  Council Members Barron and Stewart.  It's an honor

          6  to be here.  My name is Gladys Padro'-Soler.  I am

          7  the Executive Director of the National Puerto Rican

          8  Forum and I congratulate Council Member Viverito.

          9  We're so delighted that you're East Harlem.  And,

         10  though she's not here, Council Member Palma has been

         11  very, very helpful to the Forum.

         12                 Founded in 1957, the National Puerto

         13  Rican Forum is a non- profit organization whose

         14  mission is to provide education and training that

         15  prepares individuals for meaningful employment that

         16  pays a living wage and leads to self- sufficiency

         17  and dignity.

         18                 NPRF is one of the oldest national

         19  Puerto Rican organizations in the United States and

         20  during the last five zero years, 50 years, we have

         21  offered a range of education and training for over

         22  half a million individuals in the Eastern and

         23  Midwestern states and Puerto Rico.

         24                 Today, NPRF serves 4,000 people a

         25  year, 80 percent of whom are new immigrants.  We
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          2  have been particularly successful in supporting high

          3  school students to complete their studies. One

          4  hundred percent of our students graduate high school

          5  and 86 percent enter college.

          6                 We have programs today in Chicago.

          7  Our headquarters is here in New York City and we

          8  have a regional office in Puerto Rico.  Today, we're

          9  going to be speaking about our Bilingual Teacher

         10  Recruitment program, which began as a demonstration

         11  project of the federal government several years ago.

         12    Now we have a special grant with the New York City

         13  Department of Education.

         14                 I am here with Esther Lopez, who is

         15  our Director of Professional Services and is the

         16  Director of our Bilingual Recruitment program.

         17                 MS. LOPEZ:  Good afternoon everyone.

         18  Thank you Councilmen Barron and Stewart for the

         19  opportunity.  Our testimony this afternoon focuses

         20  on our Bilingual Teacher Recruitment Services

         21  program and the barriers experienced by qualified

         22  immigrant teachers and prospective teachers to

         23  transition into jobs within the New York City

         24  Department of Education.

         25                 NPRF has assisted hundreds of

                                                            81

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND IMMIGRATION

          2  educators that have legally migrated from the

          3  Caribbean and South and Central America, as well as

          4  other countries including Russia and Haiti. Many of

          5  our customers hold professional licenses from their

          6  respective countries, but arrive in this country

          7  with limited English proficiency and, as a result,

          8  find themselves underemployed.  I will describe how

          9  we assist this population in a moment.

         10                 As a community leader and educator by

         11  profession, and in my role as Director of

         12  Professional Development at NPRF, I have witnessed a

         13  vast number of teachers who begin the process of

         14  obtaining their New York State teaching

         15  certification in shortage areas and soon thereafter

         16  become overwhelmed by the systemic barriers, such

         17  as:

         18                 Increased certification standards

         19  that frequently changes; New York City Department of

         20  Education hotline customer service representatives

         21  that need more training; a multi-layered state

         22  education hotline that is difficult to navigate and

         23  never connects the teacher to a representative;

         24  difficult to follow and access City and state

         25  education websites; long waiting periods, often more
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          2  than a year, for transcripts to be evaluated by the

          3  State Education Department; costly application

          4  process; and a high volume of paperwork and follow-

          5  up.

          6                 The process is cumbersome and yet the

          7  public education system in New York continues to

          8  face a persistent shortage of certified teachers in

          9  specialized areas.  In particular, there is a great

         10  need for bilingual English and Spanish teachers

         11  within the City of New York.

         12                 On August 30, 1999, the New York

         13  Times ran an article under the headline, New York

         14  City Faces Severe Teacher Shortage.  Randi

         15  Weingarten, President of the United Federation of

         16  Teachers, was quoted as saying, "the school system

         17  has 75,000 teachers, but could soon lose as many as

         18  30,000 to 40,000 to retirement."

         19                 As a result of the crisis, NPRF

         20  received a three year federal H-1B demonstration

         21  grant to increase the number of Latino teachers in

         22  New York City and thereby reduce the expense of

         23  recruiting teachers internationally.  The goal of

         24  the grant was to assist the New York City Department

         25  of Education recruit 250 teachers and NPRF surpassed
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          2  that number.

          3                 Additionally, of the 850 credential

          4  examinations taken during the period of the

          5  demonstration grant, 83 percent or 706 of

          6  examinations were passed by the immigrant teachers

          7  we served.  Teachers who reported passing one or

          8  more of their teaching certification exams

          9  attributed their success to our program model, which

         10  focused on supporting teacher candidates through an

         11  array of services such as advocacy, technical

         12  assistance and coaching.

         13                 NPRF's Puerto Rico Regional Office

         14  also contributed to the success of the demonstration

         15  grant by recruiting highly qualified teachers who

         16  decided that they were ready to relocate to New York

         17  City.  We were particularly proud when the New York

         18  City Department of Education named a teacher

         19  recruited by our Puerto Rico office as the 2005

         20  Teacher of the Year.

         21                 Currently, our professional

         22  development services consists of assisting the New

         23  York City Department of Education in their efforts

         24  to identify and recruit bilingual teachers, English

         25  and Spanish, in shortage areas such as Bilingual
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          2  Special Education, Math and Sciences, English as a

          3  Second Language, Spanish, Bilingual Special

          4  Education Paraprofessional.  Our Puerto Rico office

          5  continues to recruit qualified candidates interested

          6  in relocating to New York City.

          7                 According to a September 25, 2006 New

          8  York Post article titled, Grim Minority Report Card

          9  on City Teachers, three out of the four students in

         10  the city public school systems, system, are black or

         11  Hispanic, but they are unlikely to have a new

         12  teacher, new teachers who look like them.  The

         13  article goes on to report that the New York City

         14  Department of Education's data shows the following:

         15                 Within the current year, ethnicity

         16  rates for black students is 32.8 percent and for

         17  Hispanics, 39.0 percent.  It estimated that of the

         18  65,000, I'm sorry, 6,500 teachers hired for the

         19  current school year, only 14.1 percent were black

         20  and 11.7 percent were Hispanic, compared with 27.2

         21  percent and 14.3 percent, respectively, five years

         22  ago.  And, over the same period, the number of white

         23  teachers soared from 53.3 percent to 65.5 percent,

         24  the largest increase since at least 1990.

         25                 NPRF's data, from the period of 2001
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          2  to 2006, shows that approximately 50 percent of

          3  2,000 teachers and prospective teachers in our

          4  programs decided to leave teaching as a career path

          5  because of the lack of resources and support

          6  services available to them.  The need to strengthen

          7  their English language skills and the lengthy

          8  credentialing process was rated as the main reason

          9  for their decision to abandon the field they love.

         10                 To sustain their families and

         11  generate income, many teachers choose a low paying

         12  job, which places their families in poverty.

         13  Unemployment creates a, underemployment creates a

         14  vicious cycle for both the immigrant teacher and the

         15  City Department of Education.

         16                 Our experience shows that the

         17  continuous increase and changes in credential

         18  standards and the lack of funding for English

         19  language proficiency courses, skills enhancement

         20  programs at the university level, licensing

         21  examination coaching, prompt credential validation

         22  and career counseling have disillusioned and

         23  deterred teachers from the Caribbean, Central and

         24  South America and Russia from pursuing teaching as a

         25  career.
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          2                 NPRF has designed an educational

          3  track for this population that would with, that

          4  would, within a year, prepare immigrant teachers for

          5  classroom assignments.  I would like to highlight

          6  for the Committee some of our ideas.

          7                 Number one.  New York, New Teacher

          8  Network Internet Courses; Language Arts Development;

          9  Real Life Classroom English Teaching Training;

         10  Licensing and Examination Coaching; Credential

         11  Validations for Foreign and National; and

         12  Counseling, Career Counseling and Mentoring, Job

         13  Placement and Follow- up.

         14                 The National Puerto Rican Forum

         15  believes that it is essential for our children to

         16  benefit from being taught by teachers who look like

         17  them.  We urge you to invest the needed resources to

         18  assist a large pool of immigrants who possess the

         19  necessary skills to help New York City transform the

         20  quality of education for our children.  Respectfully

         21  yours.  Thank you.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We thank you

         23  very much for your testimony, all of you.  I just

         24  have a couple of questions for you.  One of the

         25  concerns I have with teaching, there are, I think
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          2  there are five tests that they have to pass, the  --

          3                 MS. LOPEZ:  It could be five or six

          4  depending on the specialization.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Five or six,

          6  depending on the, right.  And, if they don't, after

          7  a certain amount of time, that's it.  They have to

          8  go.  So, one of the real problems we're having is

          9  that teachers, Latino teachers and black teachers

         10  who are more than capable of teaching students, are

         11  not capable of passing these tests.  We don't know

         12  if whether it's an inherent cultural biasness of the

         13  test.  Then, teachers who are not good at teaching

         14  our students, do well on the tests.  So, we have a

         15  real serious situation.

         16                 I'm glad that have an organization

         17  like yours, because there's been a decrease, as you

         18  stated in your report, of Latino and black teachers

         19  and an increase in white teachers.  I think whole

         20  testing thing, whether it's the leave no child

         21  untested program or it's teaching and standards,

         22  standards and testing has been the new code of

         23  racism, in my opinion.  Saying we want to raise some

         24  standards, but they don't raise the floor to help

         25  you meet those standards and have the support of
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          2  networks in place to meet those standards.  So, a

          3  program like yours is sorely needed.

          4                 I just wanted to get a sense of how

          5  are the Latino teachers doing it when it comes to

          6  like getting past all five and really increasing

          7  their abilities to stay?

          8                 MS. LOPEZ:  Well, we, at the, when we

          9  had the Maestros Excelentes program, we noticed that

         10  we had to provide a lot of support services for

         11  teachers to pass the exam, not just the coaching,

         12  but we had to also do the test taking strategies. We

         13  had to, you know, work with them.  If they did not

         14  pass one exam, then we would work with them to

         15  continue on and then try again and pass the next

         16  exam.  So, we provided an array of services to be

         17  able to assist and they did very well.  I don't know

         18  if.

         19                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Yeah, I just

         20  wanted to add that, unfortunately, the federal grant

         21  has ended.  We don't have the resources to provide

         22  all the support that we did in the past. From the

         23  individuals that we had in the program, because it

         24  is a process, sometimes it took about a year and a

         25  half to get through all the exams.  They're given

                                                            89

          1  HIGHER EDUCATION AND IMMIGRATION

          2  only a couple times of the year. There's a lot of

          3  preparation for them, et cetera.

          4                 We were extremely fortunate to have

          5  Ph.D.'s at Columbia University and folks that were

          6  vice- principals in high schools come in to be the

          7  coaches for our students.  That went extremely,

          8  extremely well.  I would say, again, we had a very

          9  high percentage of individuals passing exams when

         10  they were coached by our team.

         11                 I would say, however, it was

         12  interesting listening to the nursing numbers because

         13  the actual numbers of individuals going from one

         14  process to the other is quite small.  I think even

         15  for the Teaching Transition program, for individuals

         16  that are coming from other careers and want to come

         17  into education, that program is recruiting, a year,

         18  something like 17,000 individuals. But, is used,

         19  that program alone there is a whole series of

         20  recruitment that is going on by the City to bring in

         21  new teachers and last year we only had 6,500 new

         22  teachers.  So, it is a cumbersome process.  People

         23  are passing exams.  They're moving forward.  It's

         24  just very slow.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  I just want to
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          2  get some clarification also.  You take all five

          3  exams?

          4                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Not everybody

          5  does.  It depends on the  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Okay, because I

          7   --

          8                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  --  Specialty area

          9    --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Heard if, I

         11  wanted to get clear, I heard that you have to take

         12  all five and that even if you pass four, you've got

         13  take all five again or could you  --

         14                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Oh, no  --

         15                 MS. LOPEZ:  No  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  That's not

         17  accurate.

         18                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  --  No, no, no.

         19  If you don't pass one  --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Because they

         21  were, I was told --

         22                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  --  You repeat the

         23  one you didn't pass.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Pass.  But, you

         25  don't have to take them all over again?  Some people
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          2  told me  --

          3                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Right.  However,

          4  you will not be certified until you pass whatever

          5  number  --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  All five.

          7                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  --  Is required

          8  for  --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So, if you  --

         10                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  --  Your

         11  specialty.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  If you, one,

         13  at one moment you pass three, then that counts as

         14  passed, and then you can go ahead and get the  --

         15                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Then you can go on

         16    --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Two  --

         18                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  --  To the next.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  All right,

         20  because some teachers  --

         21                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  But, you will  --

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Were told

         23   --

         24                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  You will, I

         25  think, now you have two years in which to get the,
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          2  pass the exams.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You have a time

          4  period.

          5                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  There is a time

          6  period.  If you've passed three and you were

          7  required to take four and you haven't gotten to the

          8  fourth one yet, or you took it and didn't pass it,

          9  you have a limited amount of time when you've got to

         10  take  --

         11                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  And after that

         12  time period, what happens?

         13                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Then you can be

         14  for re certified.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Right, if you

         16  don't pass that?

         17                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  If you, you will

         18  be asked to vacate your position, yeah.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  So, you won't

         20  get a chance to like try it all over again.

         21                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  No, no.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  You're out.

         23                 MS. LOPEZ:  Well, you could do it on

         24  your own, but you will not be working for the

         25  Department of Education.
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          2                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Right, right.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Let me

          4  recognize that we have joined us, Council Member

          5  John Liu.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Let me just ask

          7  PRISM, do you help students with immigrant

          8  applications  --

          9                 MR. PIERCE:  Yes.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Immigration

         11  applications? I just want to let you also know that

         12  if you are as free as air and water, we're going to

         13  be paying high tuition at your school.

         14                 MR. PIERCE:  That's good.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We have to pave

         16  the way.

         17                 MR. PIERCE:  You know, the, one of

         18  the comments that was made earlier concerned the

         19  issue of racism.  I'd like to address it because

         20  Cooper Union has a program called the Reading and

         21  Writing Center.  They help with speech.

         22                 Now, why would a student that's so

         23  brilliant that he can get into Cooper Union be

         24  concerned about speech?  The fact is that a lot of

         25  our students have the, what do we call them? The
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          2  accents, you know what that is.  As a matter of

          3  fact, I have a Bronx accent and that's a problem

          4  too.

          5                 The point is that the students are

          6  concerned about it, because there is racism, no

          7  matter where you go and they want to get rid of

          8  their accent.  So, we have a Reading and Writing

          9  Center that actually assists all of our students in

         10  the manner of how they speak.  I wanted that to be

         11  understood.

         12                 With regard to the issues that were

         13  raised throughout the Hearings that I've heard on

         14  certification, we are a country that has a terrible

         15  time wasting resources.  As you know, we're a rich

         16  country, supposedly, and we do waste resources

         17  tremendously.

         18                 I'll give you one example.  A couple

         19  of years ago I had a student who had come from East

         20  Germany, but he was a Former Soviet student and he

         21  was assigned and eventually got up the ladder to

         22  become the head of the manufacturing plant for all

         23  of the tanks, the military tanks for the Russian

         24  Government.  A phenomenal opportunity for the U.S.

         25  Tank and Automotive Command, where I was doing some
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          2  work.  I work with the Green Oil Company and we

          3  supply their oil, biodegradable oil, by the way, for

          4  which every New York City Transit elevator has used,

          5  which is another story, which I don't want to talk

          6  about.

          7                 But, the fact is that because they

          8  were laying off people, they never hired and I tried

          9  my best to get this guy, who was ideal, a Ph.D.,

         10  mechanical engineer, to assist the U.S. Government

         11  in manufacturer of tanks, where he knew what the

         12  Russian tanks, our enemy in those days and

         13  potentially still is, who knows.  It's amazing how

         14  we waste resources in America.  We don't even know

         15  who's coming into America with special skills.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Well, thank you

         17  very much.  I know Council Member Mark- Viverito has

         18  some questions.  But, I just hope we get to the day

         19   --  we're going to make your job easier, people of

         20  color are going to get power and we're going to

         21  accept accents, so you won't have to get rid of

         22  them.  It would be  --

         23                 MR. PIERCE:  I have a, yeah  --

         24                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  A plus to

         25  have an accent --
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          2                 MR. PIERCE:  Well, I think, I think

          3  they're very charming.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  --  Not get rid

          5  of an accent.

          6                 MR. PIERCE:  I think they're very

          7  charming, but -

          8                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  We want them to

          9  be charming and paid.

         10                 MR. PIERCE:  That's what I was going

         11  to say. Agreed.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Keep the charm,

         13  give us the pay.

         14                 MR. PIERCE:  Agreed.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON BARRON:  Go ahead Council

         16  Member.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Thank

         18  you Chairs. Just questions with regard to the

         19  recruitment program, that's a contract with the

         20  Department of Education, correct?

         21                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  --

         23  In New York City?  That's, you still have that

         24  contract?

         25                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Yes, this is an,
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          2  actually, our first federal grant was in partnership

          3  with the New York City Department of Education.

          4  Once the federal grant ended, they gave us a small

          5  portion of funds to continue helping them with

          6  recruitment.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Okay.

          8    Is it that the federal government has moved away

          9  from that grant or was it just that your agency  --

         10                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Yeah, it was

         11  through H- 1B dollars and they actually, the new

         12  regulations came in specifically for positions in

         13  technology, et cetera and the sciences.  So, our  --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  It

         15  shifted.

         16                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Right, it

         17  shifted.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Not

         19  to education, but to sciences.

         20                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  To other fields.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Okay.

         22    Now, with regards to the grant from the Department

         23  of Education, so around how many, I'm assuming that

         24  all of the potential, the clients that you work

         25  with, not everyone, not all of them get to the point
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          2  where they are hired by the Department of Education,

          3  correct?

          4                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  A good number do

          5  not get  --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Do

          7  not.  So, how many would you work with, on average,

          8  on a yearly basis?

          9                 MS. LOPEZ:  We're talking about which

         10  grant now?

         11                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  This is a new

         12  grant with the Department of Education.  We're, we

         13  just completed the first year.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Oh, I

         15  see, so  --

         16                 MS. LOPEZ:  So, you're talking about

         17   --

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  --

         19  How many did you work with in that first year?

         20                 MS. LOPEZ:  With, for the Bilingual

         21  Teacher Recruitment program?

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Yes.

         23                 MS. LOPEZ:  We've done, we, we've

         24  worked with over a thousand people.  We go out to

         25  the communities and we work with.  We don't, what we
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          2  do is we go out to the community colleges.  We go

          3  out to the fairs.  We go out to the streets.  We

          4  actually go out and we look for the teachers where

          5  the pool of teachers would be and that's where we

          6  provide services or they come to our office.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  And,

          8  obviously, you start off with a large number and it

          9  probably dwindles down as time goes, right? Probably

         10  as you're going through the requirements, et cetera?

         11                 MS. LOPEZ:  Right.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  What

         13  other, how many other organizations or how many

         14  other grants like this does the Department of

         15  Education give here in New York City?  You know,

         16  working with other  --

         17                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  We believe that

         18  we're a unique.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:

         20  You're the only organization?

         21                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  Right, yes, yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Okay.

         23                 MS. PADRO'- SOLER:  And we've got a

         24  small grant.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER MARK- VIVERITO:  Thank

          3  you.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  I just have a

          5  couple of questions.  Mr. Pierce, I have a couple of

          6  questions for you.  Do you have any special programs

          7  for all those folks who go to Cooper Union in terms

          8  of foreign language, USL, or if they're learning

          9  English because  --

         10                 MR. PIERCE:  We have, yes.

         11                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         12                 MR. PIERCE:  I'm sorry.  We do have,

         13  as I indicated, a Reading and Writing program, which

         14  also deals with speech and it's one- on- one.  It's

         15  a remarkable program.  The only problem is that my

         16  students overwhelm this program.  We just need more

         17  support for this Reading and Writing program.

         18                 By the way, I just want to make

         19  certain that, I agree with what was said before,

         20  with regard to accents.  I think they're wonderful,

         21  but you have to be realistic that we do live in a

         22  racists society and sometimes these accents create

         23  problems, especially when you're working in

         24  construction and someone says, get out of the way,

         25  and the guy doesn't understand what he's saying.
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          2  You know, so that could be an issue.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Right.  What is

          4  the criteria that you get to fill the slot in the

          5  school?  Is it from high schools?  Where do you get

          6  your students from?

          7                 MR. PIERCE:  Oh, for Cooper Union in

          8  general or for the special program?  I'll, for both

          9   --

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  For Cooper

         11  Union.

         12                 MR. PIERCE:  Yeah, it's strictly an

         13  examination that, and I don't even believe that

         14  we've come to any interviews. It's strictly based on

         15  examination.  Am I correct?

         16                 MS. McCarthy:  It's entrance

         17  examinations  -- Claire McCarthy, Director of Public

         18  Affairs for the Cooper Union. The matriculated

         19  students are tested and their SATs and grades in

         20  high school.  It's very hard to get into Cooper

         21  Union.  The total student population is 1,000.

         22                 The architects and artists do home

         23  tests, so that they can see, one of the criteria

         24  they have is, is this person teachable or is he

         25  already or she already, you know, a sculptor. We
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          2  teach a range of fine arts so that's, the home test

          3  is important in those two areas.  The Immigrant  --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Is  --

          5                 MS. McCARTHY:  --  Retraining

          6  program, we recruit through Bnai Zion and we've

          7  worked with them since the beginning of the program.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Is immigration

          9  status a criteria?

         10                 MS. MCCARTHY:  I don't know.  For

         11  which?

         12                 MR. PIERCE:  Immigration  --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  To get into

         14  Cooper Union. If this is one of the top schools, you

         15  get free tuition, I want to know if it's available

         16  to students who may have no legal status in the

         17  country.

         18                 MS. McCARTHY:  Foreign students are

         19  accepted if they can show that they have an address

         20  in the United States. So, many of them come and live

         21  with relatives, not many of them, actually, we don't

         22  have a large student population.  We have, as I

         23  said, a thousand students, 49 percent or 47 percent

         24  of those are from New York City.  About 56, City and

         25  state combined and the rest from all around the
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          2  country and there are some foreign exchange programs

          3  and there are a few foreign students.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  My other

          5  question that I have, those students, when they

          6  graduate, is there a problem, you're a licensed

          7  practical civil engineer, is there a problem in

          8  terms of getting a certain exam for a license?  If,

          9  you know, what do you know about immigration status

         10  and all that?

         11                 MR. PIERCE:  I would think that there

         12  is a challenge for those that have English problems

         13  and that's why, that's one of the most, humanities

         14  is a very important of our program at Cooper Union.

         15  So, we work on it and that is  --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  But what about

         17  immigration status?

         18                 MR. PIERCE:  I believe that

         19  immigration status is not, we're not a governmental

         20  program.  We don't look at that.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  No, no, I'm

         22  talking about getting, when they graduate, for them

         23  to get a license, do you know anything about that?

         24                 MR. PIERCE:  Oh, yes I do because I'm

         25  a, I remember taking the exam, it's a tough exam.
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          2  But, the fact is that there's no question, so far as

          3  I, unless it's changed recently, and I'll be glad to

          4  e- mail you, to show you, exactly chapter and verse,

          5  what they do require today.  But, I do believe,

          6  unless it's changed very recently, there is no

          7  requirement on  --

          8                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  Legal status.

          9                 MR. PIERCE:  Legal status.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.

         11  With that said, I must let you know that I do have

         12  an accent, right?

         13                 MR. PIERCE:  So do I.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right, so,

         15  you know. Yes, it's not only a Brooklyn accent, this

         16  is a Caribbean accent.

         17                 MR. PIERCE:  I like it.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  All right.  Any

         19  other questions?  Once again, I want to thank you

         20  folks for being so helpful.  We are going to follow-

         21  up on this.  We're going to try to make sure that

         22  whatever we can do to help our immigrants adjust,

         23  we're going to do that.  We'll be reaching out to

         24  you for future Hearings.  Once again, thank you.

         25  Thank you all for coming.
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          2                 MR. PIERCE:  Thank you.

          3                 MS. PADRO'-SOLER:  Thank you for

          4  having us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON STEWART:  This Hearing is

          6  adjourned.

          7                 (Hearing concluded at 4:35 p.m.)

          8

          9

         10

         11

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

         25

                                                            106

          1

          2              CERTIFICATION

          3

          4

          5     STATE OF NEW YORK   )

          6     COUNTY OF NEW YORK  )

          7

          8

          9                 I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify

         10  that the foregoing is a true and accurate transcript

         11  of the within proceeding.

         12                 I further certify that I am not

         13  related to any of the parties to this action by

         14  blood or marriage, and that I am in no way

         15  interested in the outcome of this matter.

         16                 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto

         17  set my hand this 13th day of December 2006.

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22

         23

         24

                                   ---------------------

         25                          CHERYL MILLER

                                                            107

          1

          2             C E R T I F I C A T I O N

          3

          4

          5

          6

          7

          8

          9            I, CHERYL MILLER, do hereby certify the

         10  aforesaid to be a true and accurate copy of the

         11  transcription of the audio tapes of this hearing.

         12

         13

         14

         15

         16

         17

         18

         19

         20

         21

         22                 -----------------------

                              CHERYL MILLER

         23

         24

         25

